No. 23-CV-557



Received 12/22/2023 09:08 PM Resubmitted 12/22/2023 09:18 PM Resubmitted 12/22/2023 09:35 PM

Resubmitted 12/26/2023 03:27 PM

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

ZACK GAMBLE,

Appellant,

v.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT, et al.,

Appellees.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia – Civil Division

APPELLANT ZACK GAMBLE'S BRIEF

Lateefah S. Williams, Esq. Assistant General Counsel National Association of Government Employees 1020 N. Fairfax Street, Suite 200 Alexandria, VA 22314 (703) 519-0300 (Office) (703) 519-0311 (Fax) Iwilliams@nage.org

Attorney for Appellant Zack Gamble

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Statement of Issues Presented for Review

The Appellant is presenting the following issues to this Court for review:

- Whether the DC Superior Court erred when it ruled that the harmful/harmless error standard always applies, even when a DC government Agency violates a substantive statutory right, which the Employee is entitled to prior to the Agency separating an employee via a RIF, pursuant to DC Code §1-624.02(a), and what should be an employee's remedy in this instance, and;
- 2. Whether the distinction between substantive and procedural rights enables and, potentially, mandates the Court to impose different standards when a violation of a substantive right occurs versus a violation of a procedural right, placing particular emphasis on the "entitlement" language used which differentiates a substantive right from a procedural right, and;
- 3. Whether a presiding judge in a RIF appeal or Petition for Review has the authority to rescind a District Agency's RIF if that Agency violated an Employee's substantive rights the Agency was statutorily required to

perform prior issuing a RIF to an Employee, and;

4. Whether the Law of the Case Doctrine requires the judge, court, or factfinder receiving a case on a Petition for Review or an appeal to adhere to its own decisions in an earlier phase of the case, except when an extreme miscarriage of justice would occur. (The Law of the Case Doctrine applies in this case because the DC Superior Court was acting in the capacity of a court of appeals for OEA). The standard of review on these issues is de novo.

I. <u>Statement indicating Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and</u> <u>Disposition</u>

Appellant Zack Gamble ("Appellant"), by and through counsel, Lateefah S. Williams, National Association of Government Employees, respectfully submits this Brief in appeal of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia's ("DC Superior Court" or "DCSC") Decision on May 31, 2023, in "Metropolitan Police Dept. v. Office of Employee Appeals and Zack Gamble," 2022 CA 001198 P(MPA), which granted the District of Columbia Metropolitan Police Department's ("MPD," "Agency," or "Appellee") Petition for Review ("PFR") of the District of Columbia Office of Employee Appeals' ("OEA") Second Initial Decision on Remand ("2nd IDR").

Prior to MPD's PFR, on January 11, 2022, DC OEA Administrative Judge Joseph Lim issued a 2nd IDR, in accordance with DC Superior Court Judge Heidi Pasichow's July 14, 2021, Order granting Appellant Gamble's Second Petition for Review ("2nd PFR") of DC OEA's Decision, vacating OEA's August 31, 2015 Initial Decision, and remanding the case back to OEA Judge Lim for "further proceedings consistent with the Order."

On August 6, 2021, Appellee MPD appealed the DCSC's Decision to the Court of Appeals ("DCCA"). On September 1, 2021, the DCCA Ordered MPD to "show cause why this appeal should not be dismissed for having been taken from a non-final order." On September 30, 2021, the DCCA issued an Amended Order dismissing MPD's appeal "as having been taken from a non-final and nonappealable order." See DCAA No. 21-CV-554. DC OEA issued its Decision after the DCCA dismissed MPD's Appeal and the DC Superior Court remanded it back to OEA.

By granting the PFR, the DCSC reversed OEA's 2nd IDR, affirmed OEA's Initial Decision on Remand ("IDR"), and upheld Appellant Gamble's termination from MPD in its Reduction-in-Force ("RIF"), which it asserted was done in accordance with DC Superior Court Review of Agency Orders, Pursuant to DC Code 1981, Title 1, Chapter 6. Appeal of Final Agency Decision, Rule 1 (SCR Civ. Agency Review Rule 1 Appeal of Final Agency Decision).

On May 6, 2020, District of Columbia Office of Employee Appeals (OEA) Senior Administrative Judge Joseph Lim issued an Initial Decision ("ID") in this matter, which became final on June 10, 2020. After the ID became Final, Appellant filed a Petition for Review with the DCSC. In seeking the Petition for Review, the Appellant asserted that the OEA Administrative Judge's Initial Decision on Remand/Final Decision was not supported by substantial evidence, was erroneous as a matter of law, and was not in accordance with the Superior Court's Remand Order.

In support of the District of Columbia Office of Employee Appeals' ("OEA") January 11, 2022, Second Initial Decision on Remand ("2nd IDR"). The 2nd IDR, issued by OEA Senior Administrative Judge Joseph E. Lim, reversed Judge Lim's IDR and rescinded MPD's improper RIF of Appellant Gamble on October 14, 2011, after DCSC Judge Heidi M. Pasichow's July 14, 2021, Order granting the Appellant's Second Petition for Review ("2nd PFR") and remanding the case back to OEA to apply the law in the appropriate manner. Appellee appealed the 2nd IDR to the DCSC, which reversed OEA's 2nd IDR, reinstating the Agency's RIF.

A. PROCEDURAL ADMINISTRATIVE APPEALS BACKGROUND

On September 14, 2011, Appellant Zack Gamble was informed via letter that he was going to be separated from employment due to a Reduction in Force

("RIF") and that the RIF was effective October 14, 2011. *Administrative Record*¹ ("Record") at 75. On November 10, 2011, Appellant filed a Petition for Appeal with OEA. *Record* at 1. On December 13, 2011, the Agency filed its Answer to the Petition for Appeal. *Record* at 1. An OEA Administrative Judge was not assigned to the case until August 2, 2013, an unnecessary delay which compounded the District of Columbia government's unwarranted personnel action against Appellee. *Record* at 661. On February 27, 2014, OEA Administrative Judge Joseph Lim issued a Decision and Order finding that the general RIF regulations in D.C. Code §1-624.02 and §1-624.04 govern this RIF. *Record* at 335. On February 2, 2015, Judge Lim ordered the Parties to submit legal briefs in this case. *Record* at 420.

After the briefs were submitted, the Judge determined a hearing was still necessary. On July 7, 2015, a hearing was held. *Record* at 526. On September 16, 2015, Judge Lim issued an Initial Decision upholding the RIF. *Record* at 621. Although Judge Lim stated in his Initial Decision that there were two issues to be determined in that Appeal, he had already determined in his February 27, 2014, Decision and Order that the Abolishment Act did not apply to this RIF. *Record* at 335, 627-28. Nonetheless, he addressed the issue of which RIF statute applied and,

¹ Administrative Record refers to the record that was developed in the hearing before OEA and filed as part of the initial Petition for Review with the DC Superior Court.

again, found that the broader RIF statute in D.C. Code §1-624.02 and §1-624.04 applied. *Record* at 627-28. After Judge Lim's reference to the Abolishment Act in 2014, the Agency never raised the Abolishment Act to the DCSC until its October 11, 2022, Brief, despite this case first being brought before the DCSC on April 7, 2017, when Appellant filed a Petition for Review.

On October 20, 2015, Appellant filed a Petition for Review of the Initial Decision with the OEA. *Record* at 636. Appellant requested review regarding the administrative judge's decision based on the second issue, which was articulated as, "Whether Agency's action separating Employee pursuant to a RIF was conducted in accordance with applicable law, rule or regulation." *Id.* Appellant argued that since the Judge determined that the broader RIF statute applied to the instant RIF, the judge was obligated to address all issues and arguments raised that alleged that MPD incorrectly or improperly applied the rules or regulations regarding a RIF in the District. *Id.* On March 7, 2017, the OEA issued its Opinion and Order on the Petition for Review, upholding the administrative judge's Decision and finding that the judge adequately addressed Appellant's claims. *Record* at 660.

On April 7, 2017, Appellant filed a Petition for Review of the OEA's Opinion and Order with the DC Superior Court, alleging that the OEA and the judge's findings that the RIF was conducted in accordance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations, were not based upon substantial evidence. In addition to Appellant's argument that the Board's decision was not supported by substantial evidence, amongst several arguments, the Appellant also argued that the Agency failed to consider job sharing or reduced hours as required by D.C. Code §1-624.02(a)(4), and that the OEA improperly placed the burden on the Appellant (Employee) to prove that such job sharing, or reduced hours did not occur. On April 30, 2018, DCSC Judge Robert R. Rigsby issued an Order, denying the Petition for Review and upholding OEA's decision. Since OEA Judge Lim did not address Appellant's argument that MPD did not consider job sharing and reduced hours as an alternative to the RIF in his Initial Decision, among other criteria enumerated in the DC RIF statute, Appellant then filed a Petition for Review with the D.C. Court of Appeals.

On March 19, 2019, the D.C. Court of Appeals, again, determined there were additional determinations that OEA still needed to make, and, consequently, issued an Order remanding this matter back to OEA to determine:

- 1. Whether the Agency met its burden of proof that it properly implemented the D.C. RIF statute, D.C. Official Code §1-624.02(a)(4).
- 2. If not, whether the Agency's action separating Appellant pursuant to a RIF should be upheld.

On January 21, 2020, OEA Judge Lim held a teleconference and ordered the parties to submit a stipulation of facts and briefs by a certain date, in which the

parties complied. On May 6, 2020, Judge Lim issued his Initial Decision on Remand, in which he upheld MPD's action abolishing Appellant 's position through a RIF. While Judge Lim found that the Agency had not met its burden to prove that it considered job sharing or reduced hours, he went on to uphold the RIF anyway, finding that the failure to adhere to the requirements of D.C. Code 1-624.02(a)(4)was not a harmful error (emphasis added). Appellant then filed a Second Petition for Review with the DCSC, herein referenced as ("2nd PFR") for clarity purposes, alleging that the OEA and Judge Lim's findings were "not supported by substantial evidence in the record as a whole," which would have enabled them to conduct a proper analysis as to whether MPD's failure to meet its burden constituted a "harmful error." Appellant filed a Brief for the 2nd PRF on January 15, 2021. After MPD filed its response, Appellant filed a Reply Brief to the 2nd PFR on April 23, 2021. In Appellant's April 23, 2021, Reply Brief, to his 2nd PFR, he analyzed his arguments in a different way than he had previously done. Appellant relied on the legislative language of the statute and on case law interpreting the statute to illustrate the distinction between substantive and procedural language, its role in determining whether the consideration of job sharing and reduced hours prior to a RIF was mandatory or permissive, and, if it was mandatory, whether the failure to consider it constituted a harmful error. While it is important to distinguish that Appellant put forth a different analysis in his Reply to MPD's Response to his 2nd PFR, the

underlying reason that Appellant set forth that the 2nd PFR should be granted remained consistent. Further, even if Appellant had brought forth a new argument, the Agency has had several opportunities to make any claims that the Appellant is relying on a new argument. Thus, since MPD failed to raise the claim at any point after the DCSC granted Appellant's 2nd PFR, including when it appealed to the DCCA, filed its own PFR with the DCSC, and filed a Brief and Supplemental Brief with the DCSC, it is deemed to have waived any claims that the Appellant relied on a new claim or a new analysis in its April 23, 2021 Reply Brief or any point thereafter.

On July 14, 2021, DCSC Judge Heidi M. Pasichow issued an Order granting Appellant's 2nd PFR of Agency Decision, finding "a clearly erroneous finding of law." Judge Pasichow found that "OEA erred when it considered the 'harmful error' standard. The factors set forth in §1-624.02 are substantive rights that every Employee must be afforded when subject to a RIF." Judge Pasichow reasoned that since "OEA previously found that the MPD failed to properly consider job sharing and reduced hours as an alternative to RIF, as required by §1-624.02(a)(4)," OEA's "decision not to overturn the MPD's dismissal was clearly erroneous when measured against statutory requirements." Accordingly, Judge Pasichow vacated the August 31, 2015, and May 22, 2020, OEA Decisions and remanded the matter back to OEA for further proceedings consistent with the Order. On August 6, 2021, MPD appealed the DCSC Decision to the DCCA by filing a Notice of Appeal and a DCCA Mediation Screening Statement (MSS). MPD wrote in its MSS that the principal issue on appeal was "[w]hether the Superior Court erred when it decided that a harmful standard error does not apply to DC Code §1-624.02(a)(4)." On September 1, 2021, the DCCA ordered MPD to show cause why MPD's appeal "should not be dismissed for having been taken from a non-final order." On September 30, 2021, the DCCA dismissed the appeal for "having been taken from a non-final and non-appealable order because damages (benefits, back pay, and attorney's fees) have yet to be calculated." On October 22, 2021, the DCCA sent the Clerk of the DCSC a certified copy of the Decision. The case was then remanded back to Judge Lim at OEA.

On November 17, 2021, the parties held a status conference with Judge Lim and agreed that pursuant to Judge Pasichow's order and DCCA's dismissal of MPD's appeal, Judge Lim had no choice but to order that Appellant be returned to his position with MPD, with restoration of all lost benefits, including, but not limited to, back pay and reasonable attorney fees. The parties agreed to jointly submit the case procedural and substantive history to Judge Lim by December 6, 2021. Judge Lim issued an Order to that effect after the status conference. On January 11, 2022, Judge Lim issued the Second Initial Decision on Remand ("2nd IDR"), reversing Appellant's RIF and entitling him to back pay, lost benefits, and attorney fees.

On October 18, 2022, MPD filed a Petition for Review with the DC Superior Court, followed a Brief explaining why it believed its PFR should be granted. On March 6, 2023, Appellant filed an updated response brief with the DCSC. The Agency filed a reply brief. On April 5, 2023, Judge Neil E. Kravitz issued an Order requiring the parties to each file a supplemental brief addressing "the extent to which, if at all, the law-of-the-case doctrine constrains the court's authority to decide whether the failure of the Metropolitan Police Department (MPD) to consider job-sharing and reduced hours as required by D.C. Code §1-624.02(a) was subject to harmless-error analysis." The parties submitted their supplemental briefs on May 15, 2023. Judge Kravitz held a status conference and oral arguments soon thereafter. On May 31, 2023, Judge Kravitz granted MPD's PFR and reinstated OEA's Initial Decision on Remand. The Superior Court clarified that there was no need to remand the case back to OEA and the next step would be to appeal to the DC Court of Appeals. After the DCSC ruling, the Appellant appealed this matter to this Court. On August 6, 2021, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal with this Court.

II. <u>Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Submitted for Review</u> A. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Appellant Zack Gamble is a former Computer Specialist, DS-0334-12-9, in the Office of the Chief Information Officer ("OCIO") at MPD. *See Administrative Record*, ("Record") p. 146. Appellant began his career with the District of Columbia Government on September 15, 1986, and worked there until he was removed on October 14, 2011, based on a RIF. *Id.* As noted above, on September 14, 2011, Appellant was informed via letter that he was going to be separated from employment due to a RIF that became effective October 14, 2011. *Record* at 75.

Based on the letter, the RIF was the result of an Agency realignment and shortage of work. *Record* at 364. Appellant was one of fourteen (14) Appellant s who were separated due to the RIF. *Id.* Prior to the RIF, the Agency did not consider job sharing or reduced hours for the Appellant. In the IDR, Judge Lim found that the "Agency failed to meet its burden of proof that it considered job sharing or reduced hours when it implemented its RIF." *See IDR*, p. 3. The Agency never approached Appellant to inquire about or determine whether he had the skill set for one of the new Information Technology positions that were created when Appellant's Computer Specialist position was abolished. Had the Agency approached him, it would have determined that Appellant has a solid information technology background and was just as capable of performing the tasks for one of

the positions as some of the individuals they hired to fill those positions, as several of those job duties encompassed duties that the Appellant was previously performing. Further, Appellant asserts that when the new Agency director came aboard prior to the RIF, the new director began giving some of his work to a new contract employee, who would consult Appellant on how to do the work assignments. Appellant further asserts that after the RIF, his work was transferred to that same contract employee, who was hired into one of the new full-time positions. Approximately one (1) year after Appellant's improper RIF from MPD, he obtained an information technology position with another DC government Agency, despite MPD's assertion and the Judge's finding in the IDR that the Appellant only had the skills for his current computer specialist position, but not for an information technology position. Appellant asserts that he is still employed as a full-time information technology specialist with the DC government Agency that he joined in 2012.

B. REALIGNMENTS AND REDUCTIONS IN FORCE

MPD is governed by the District Personnel Manual and is a subordinate Agency of the Executive Office of the Mayor. *See District Personnel Manual, Part II, Chapter 1, Sections 1.6 and 1.7, Record* at 51. When an agency of the District of Columbia Government conducts a realignment and RIF, there are numerous steps and procedures the agency must follow prior to conducting the realignment

and RIF. Those steps are laid out in the RIF regulations, which are found in D.C.

Code §1-624.02 and §1-624.04. They are also laid out in the 2008 District of

Columbia Reorganization and Realignment General Information Guide, published

by the District of Columbia Department of Human Resources ("DCHR"). Record

at 55-71. It is well-settled law that if there is any inconsistency between the

statutory law and District government regulations that statutory law trumps the

regulations.

When conducting a RIF based on a realignment in the District, an agency

must comply with D.C. Code §1-624.02(a), which states:

(a) Reduction-in-force procedures shall apply to the Career and Educational Services, except those persons separated pursuant to §1-608.01a(b)(2), and to persons appointed to the Excepted and Legal Services as attorneys and shall include:

(1) A prescribed order of separation based on tenure of appointment, length of service including creditable federal and military service, District residency, veterans preference, and relative work performance;

(2) One round of lateral competition limited to positions within the Appellant 's competitive level;

- (3) Priority reemployment consideration for Appellant s separated;
- (4) Consideration of job sharing and reduced hours; and
- (5) Appellant appeal rights.

D.C. Code \$1-624.02(a). As stated therein, an agency is required to consider

job sharing and reduced hours prior to conducting a RIF.

Summary of Argument

The Metropolitan Police Department did not consider Job Sharing or Reduced Hours prior to issuing a RIF to Appellant Gamble, in violation of the RIF procedures outlined in DC Code §1-624.02(a)(4). In OEA's Initial Decision on RIF Appellant's appeal on July 7, 2015, OEA found that MPD failed to consider job sharing and reduced hours. On July 14, 2021, DC Superior Court Judge Heidi Pasichow granted Appellant's Second Petition for Review, holding that "OEA erred when it *considered* the 'harmful error' standard" because "[t]he factors set forth in §1-624.02 are substantive rights that every employee must be afforded when subject to a RIF." Gamble v. OEA, 2020 CA 003074 P(MPA). While the statute does not specify the Employee's remedy if the Agency violates §1-624.02 prior to a RIF, the statute would be rendered ineffective if the RIF is allowed to go through despite the Agency's misconduct. This would set an untenable precedent that District government agencies would not have to be concerned about protecting the rights of rank-and-file employees.

Further, under the Law of the Case Doctrine, a Judge or fact-finder is required to adhere to a previous ruling by the same court, except when an extreme miscarriage of justice would occur. Denying vulnerable District government employees mandatory substantive rights that DC legislators put into the DC Code to protect them rises to that level, so Judge Pasichow was justified in issuing her

decision, once she realized the gravity of the mistake concerning the harmful error standard.

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