No. 23-CV-557



IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS Clerk of the Court Received 05/08/2024 11:46 AM Filed 05/08/2024 11:46 AM

ZACK W. GAMBLE, Appellant,

v.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT; DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS, APPELLEES.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

GRAHAM E. PHILLIPS Deputy Solicitor General

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. This Court should affirm because any error by MPD in not considering job sharing or reduced hours was harmless—Gamble's position would still have been eliminated even if that error did not occur. That is precisely what the OEA found. Gamble's entire competitive level was abolished in the RIF, so there was no position that he could share or work reduced hours in. And he lacked the skills and certifications needed to fill any newly created position. Thus, even if MPD had considered the measures, Gamble would still have been terminated through the RIF. Gamble's argument that he could have produced additional relevant facts comes too late. He introduced job sharing and reduced hours into this case in his opening brief to the OEA, and he had ample opportunity to produce evidence during the OEA hearing. But he did not. And even now his proffer is inadequate. He does not claim that he was qualified for the positions that remained in the division after the RIF—only that he had *some* of the required skills.

Gamble's next argument, that the harmless-error standard does not apply to "substantive rights," is simply unsupported. Gamble incorrectly equates a statutory requirement with a "substantive right" that defies harmless-error review. But only a limited class of fundamental constitutional errors are exempt from harmless-error standards. The failure to consider the RIF statute's job sharing and reduced hours is not such a fundamental constitutional error. Instead, Gamble relies on one case for his novel rule that "substantive rights" are exempt from harmless-error review—*King*. But *King's* holding fully supports MPD's position here. As Judge Kravitz correctly explained, the sole sentence from *King* that Gamble clings to is dicta.

Finally, this Court should reject Gamble's argument that the law-of-the-case doctrine prevented Judge Kravitz from applying the harmless-error standard. That doctrine is discretionary and does not limit the authority of a court to correct an erroneous ruling. Judge Kravitz detailed three errors from Judge Pasichow's ruling that warranted revisiting whether harmless error applied. In any event, even if the

17

law-of-the-case doctrine limited Judge Kravitz, it has no effect on this Court's review. This Court reviews the merits, not whether Judge Kravitz's order differed from Judge Pasichow's order.

2. In the alternative, this Court should affirm the RIF under the Abolishment Act. The Act allows for a streamlined process that an agency may use once per fiscal year. The OEA rejected MPD's invocation of the Abolishment Act, finding that to use the Abolishment Act, there must be a fiscal basis for the RIF. But that conclusion is now plainly wrong, as this Court rejected it in *Stevens*. Significantly, the Abolishment Act does not require that the agency consider job sharing or reduced hours. Thus, applying the Abolishment Act would fully resolve this appeal, since Gamble's entire argument for reinstatement rests on MPD's failure to consider those measures.

Gamble argues that MPD forfeited reliance on the Abolishment Act, explaining that while MPD raised it at first before the OEA, it did not re-raise it again until 2022 before the Superior Court. But this Court should excuse any forfeiture here. MPD did raise and litigate the applicability of the Abolishment Act before the OEA. The question of whether the Abolishment Act applies is a pure question of law requiring no further factual development or application of agency expertise. And the outcome is clear-cut under the Abolishment Act. There can be no dispute that the measures at issue in this appeal are not required.

ARGUMENT

I. MPD's Failure To Consider Job Sharing And Reduced Hours Was Harmless.

Gamble's sole argument is that he should be reinstated because MPD did not consider job sharing or reduced hours when it conducted the RIF. But under controlling law, reinstatement is only available if an error by the agency in conducting the RIF was harmful—in other words, that without the error Gamble would not have been terminated. But there was no such harm here. And contrary to Gamble's argument, the mandatory nature of the requirement to consider job sharing and reduced hours does not preclude harmless-error review. Nor does the law-ofthe-case doctrine prevent this Court from affirming.

A. The OEA Correctly Applied The Harmful-Error Standard.

The RIF regulations expressly provide that reinstatements in RIFs require an agency's error to be "harmful"—that is, "of such a magnitude that in its absence [the employee] would not have been released from his... competitive level." 6-B DCMR § 2405.7. Similarly, the OEA's rules prohibit reversing an agency's actions based on harmless errors. 6-B DCMR § 631.3 (2012). The AJ correctly concluded that there was no harmful error here, finding that the consideration of job sharing or reduced hours would have been futile because Gamble's entire competitive level was abolished and Gamble was not qualified for the remaining jobs. In other words,

even if MPD had considered such measures, Gamble would still have been terminated through the RIF. This is quintessential harmless error.

This Court's decisions confirm the point. For example, in *Dupree v. D.C.* Department of Corrections, 132 A.3d 150 (D.C. 2016), the Court declined to reverse a RIF because correcting the error would have not stopped the employee's termination—the employee "still would occupy a position that was scheduled for abolishment." Id. at 161. Accordingly, the Court explained that the error was "harmless and cannot entitle [the employee] to relief." Id. (citing 6-B DCMR § 2405.7)). Similarly, in Harding v. D.C. Office of Employee Appeals, 887 A.2d 33 (D.C. 2005), this Court rejected an employee's argument that a RIF must be reversed because the agency failed to comply with a mandatory requirement, without regard to whether the error was harmful. The Court explained that the "adoption and application of a harmless error standard is rational, rather than arbitrary or capricious, for it is analogous to the harmless error standard which has been made applicable to judicial proceedings by statute, D.C. Code § 17-305 (2001), and by rule of court." Id. at 35 (citing Super. Ct. Civ. R. 61; Super. Ct. Crim. R. 52(a)).

Gamble does not argue that the error here was "of such a magnitude that in its absence [he] would not have been released from his . . . competitive level." 6-B DCMR § 2405.7. Nor could he. No one remained in Gamble's competitive level after the RIF because the entire level was abolished, a fact the AJ correctly found

dispositive in the harmful-error analysis. App. 25-26. The AJ also found that Gamble was not qualified for other positions. App. 26; *cf. Harding*, 887 A.2d at 34 (upholding harmless-error findings where "Harding does not contend, nor can he, that he would not have been separated from the [agency]"). The AJ's factual findings on these points are "binding at all subsequent levels of review." *Raphael v. Okyiri*, 740 A.2d 935, 945 (D.C. 1999).

Gamble's response regarding the factual record lacks merit. He asserts that he would "have presented additional evidence during the hearing phase in 2017-2018 had he been put on notice that he could prevail by showing that job sharing and/or reduced hours were pertinent issues in deciding this matter." Br. 24 (emphasis added). Relatedly, he asserts that the hearing occurred "before the current questions concerning 'job sharing' and 'reduced hours' were before [AJ] Lim." Br. 24; see also Br. 32 (complaining that the AJ did not reopen the record). But the record belies Gamble's assertion. Gamble did not need notice-it was Gamble himself who injected "the current questions" on job sharing and reduced hours into this case, raising these issues in 2015 in the initial briefing before the AJ. Br. 24; see also SA 55-56 (initial brief to AJ) ("Thus, the Agency's RIF violated D.C. Code § 1-624.02(a)(4) by not considering job sharing or reductions in hours and should be reversed."); SA 71 (Tr. 94) (Gamble's counsel asking about those measures at the hearing); App. 45 (OEA Board noting the issue raised by Gamble). Gamble cannot claim he was not "on notice" of his own arguments. Nor, tellingly, can he point to anywhere in the record where he sought to reopen the record to introduce additional facts.

Instead, Gamble offers a years-late proffer in his opening briefing before this Court, asserting he "would have been able to present evidence that he performed, at least, *some*, *if not many*, of the duties that were transferred to one or more individuals in the new IT Specialist positions." Br. 32 (emphasis added). But even if this Court were to consider this belated proffer, it is insufficient to overturn the AJ's finding that Gamble lacked the necessary skills for the remaining and new jobs. The AJ found that Gamble lacked "the required technical proficiency" and the certification "required for positions created after the realignment." App. 29. Gamble's late proffer says nothing about his certifications, if any, or technical proficiency to perform all of the skills necessary for a position that remained or was created after the RIF.

Gamble's final argument on the factual record is an unsupported assertion that the AJ relied "in large part" on the testimony of the director of Human Resources, Haynes-Walton, as well as the title of Gamble's position, to find that he lacked the necessary skills and certification. Br. 30. Not so. The AJ also relied on the testimony of Gersten, the Chief Information Officer, that Gamble lacked the necessary skills and certifications. *See* App. 29; SA 65-66 (Tr. 50-52, 57). But even

22

if the AJ relied on the testimony of the director of Human Resources, Gamble has not shown that such reliance was clearly erroneous or that the finding was not based on substantial evidence in the record.

B. Gamble's argument that the mandatory nature of the requirement forecloses harmful-error review is unsupported.

Unable to show the type of harm required to satisfy the harmful-error requirement, Gamble focuses almost exclusively on the mandatory language of D.C. Code \S 1-624.02(a)(4). Br. 22-23, 27. To be sure, that provision says that RIF procedures "shall" include consideration of job sharing and reduced hours. However, the word "shall" does not definitively establish that a requirement is mandatory in all circumstances. Section 1-624.02(a)(2) provides: "Reduction-inforce procedures *shall* . . . include . . . (2) One round of lateral competition limited to positions within the employee's competitive level." (emphasis added). But when the entire competitive level is abolished, this Court has cited with approval the OEA's interpretation that one round of competition is not required. See Stevens, 150 A.3d at 323-24 ("We also defer to the OEA's interpretation that where an employee's entire competitive level is eliminated, there is no one against whom he or she could compete, and therefore that the one-round-of-lateral-competition requirement of § 1-624.08(d) is inapplicable.").

But even if the requirement to consider job sharing and reduced hours is mandatory, that establishes only that failing to consider these measures is an error—

not that the error is harmful in every case. It is the *effect* of an error, not the mandatory language of the statute, that determines whether there is harm. *See, e.g., United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 734 (1993) (explaining that a harmless-error inquiry "determine[s] whether the error was prejudicial"); *Perez v. United States*, 968 A.2d 39, 93 (D.C. 2009) (noting that determining whether there is "prejudicial effect on the outcome" is similar to asking if there is "reasonable probability that, but for [the error claimed], the result of the proceeding would have been different" (quoting *United States v. Dominguez Benitez*, 542 U.S. 74, 75 (2004)).⁵

Gamble is wrong that the mandatory language of the statute creates a "substantive right" that is impervious to harmless-error analysis. Br. 22-23. Countless mandatory provisions of law are subject to harmless-error review. The Sixth Amendment, for instance, provides that a criminal defendant "shall" have "the right" "to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. Const. amend VI. Yet violations of the Confrontation Clause are subject to harmless-error review. *See, e.g., Carrington v. District of Columbia*, 77 A.3d 999, 1007 (D.C. 2013). Indeed, "most constitutional errors can be harmless." *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1,

⁵ In passing, Gamble implies that the harmful-error regulation conflicts with the mandatory obligations in D.C. Code § 1-624.02(a)(4). Br. 27 (noting that the regulation "does not supersede an Agency's obligations established by the D.C. Code."). But there is no conflict between the statute and regulation—the harmless-error standard is a longstanding principal of judicial review. *See Harding*, 887 A.2d at 35; App. 7 (Judge Kravitz's order).

8 (1999). Only "a limited class of fundamental constitutional errors" will "'defy analysis by harmless error standards." *Id.* at 7 (quoting *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 309 (1991)); *cf., e.g., Shiflett v. D.C. Bd. of Appeals & Rev.*, 431 A.2d 9, 11 (D.C. 1981) (holding that the failure to comply with a statutory "shall" requirement was harmless error). The consideration of job sharing and reduced hours when conducting a RIF is not a "fundamental constitutional error" precluding harmless-error analysis.

Gamble seeks support for his novel theory in *King*, 766 A.2d 38, but that decision, properly understood, does not aid him. In *King*, the AJ found as a factual matter, and this Court affirmed, that the employing agency wrongly put King in his own competitive level instead of in the same competitive level as other special assistants in his agency. *Id.* at 43. This improper construction of the competitive level "constituted 'harmful error' because Mr. King 'was not released from his position in proper retention order' since he was denied one round of competition," in which he would have been senior to some of the other special assistants. *Id.* at 42 (quoting the AJ's decision). In other words, the agency made an error absent which "the employee would not have been released from his or her competitive level." 6-B DCMR § 2405.7. *King*'s holding is thus perfectly consistent with MPD's position here.

Gamble latches onto a single sentence near the end of King: "Since 'an employee's entitlement under RIF regulations is a substantive right and not a procedural right subject to the harmful error standard,' he was improperly denied his right to one round of competition with respect to the positions in his competitive level." Id. (quoting Johnson v. Dep't of Interior, 21 M.S.P.R. 316, 318 (1984) (citation omitted)). This sentence must be read in the context of the specific facts and issues that King involved. See Evans v. United States, 122 A.3d 876, 893 (D.C. 2015) ("[B]road language in our opinions must be understood in context." (internal quotation marks omitted)). It cannot be read to mean that every mandatory requirement of the RIF regulations is immune to harmless-error analysis. Such a statement would clearly be dicta. See Alfaro v. United States, 859 A.2d 149, 154 n.8 (D.C. 2004) ("Language in an opinion" that is "entirely unnecessary for the decision of the case . . . has no effect as indicating the law of the District."). And it would be irreconcilable with 6-B DCMR § 2405.7.

Moreover, the unexplained language in *King* comes from a Merit Systems Protection Board ("MSPB") case, *Johnson*, 21 M.S.P.R. 316, where it was also dicta, as Judge Kravitz correctly noted, App. 7. In *Johnson*, the MSPB found that the agency did not make an error, but it "made out a prima facie case of proper establishment of the separate competitive levels" that the employee failed to rebut. *Johnson*, 21 M.S.P.R. at 319. Thus, there was no need for a harmful-error analysis.

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